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In 1603, two dynasties fell.


    Elizabeth I died childless: the Tudors lost the


Crown. And Hugh O’Neill surrendered to the


English: over a thousand years of Gaelic


monarchy ended.


    O’Neill died in despair in 1616. But history


had not abandoned him.


    He left a daughter, Sorcha O’Neill, who


married an Irish aristocrat, a Magennis of


Iveagh. Ten generations later, one of her


descendants became Lady Glamis. In 1900, she


had a daughter—Elizabeth Bowes Lyon.


    Elizabeth was the mother of Elizabeth


Windsor. In 1952, she became the Queen of


Great Britain and Northern Ireland.


    Elizabeth II embodied a dynasty which


Elizabeth I had been at pains to destroy.
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PREFACE



In seeking the origins of Northern Ireland’s present discontents, historians and social scientists alike are again and again brought back to the British colonisation of Ulster in the seventeenth century. Attempting to find explanations has long been a concern of this author, who, in addition to teaching Irish history during a long career in further and higher education, has at various times been involved in curriculum programmes for schools (including Cultural Heritage and Education for Mutual Understanding), in writing radio and television programmes on Irish history, in the Community Relations Council and in the teaching of prisoners at the Maze Prison (where he taught exactly the same programme of Irish history to both loyalist and republican inmates).


Many widely held assumptions about the Plantation of Ulster can be shown to be flawed or, if not, in need of some refinement. Some argue—as indeed did those who wrote pamphlets to encourage colonisation—that the land was ‘utterly depopulated’. It was not, even though the ruthless campaigning and destruction of food supplies as Crown forces closed in on Ulster in 1600–1603 had, by slaughter and famine, greatly reduced the numbers of native Irish there.


It is not true that those ‘deserving Irish’ who received estates were deliberately assigned the poorest, most infertile land. James I’s determination to remove all the natives from the estates of the leading planters came to nothing. Of course the Catholic Gaelic gentry were left with almost nothing in the province by the end of the century, but most of the Irish—reduced in status, with burdensome rents and uncertain tenures—remained to farm the land. The slow process by which Catholic natives lost access to the choicest lands began only at the very end of the seventeenth century.


Many will be surprised that three amongst the most energetic planters were Catholics. Sir Randal MacDonnell, Earl of Antrim, brought large numbers of Presbyterian Lowlanders onto his land even before the official plantation had got under way; George Touchet, 18th Baron Audley, had seen to the erection of some of the plantation’s most impressive castles and fortifications—notably Ballynahatty, Castlederg and Castle Curlews—up to his death in 1617; and, to the consternation of the government, Sir George Hamilton of Greenlaw, together with his relatives, as well as befriending Irish priests and Jesuits made his well-managed estate in the Strabane area a haven for Scottish Catholics seeking refuge from the oppressions of the Kirk.


Despite the confiscation of its lands and frequent persecutions, the Catholic Church in Ulster appears to have become stronger, better organised and more fervent during the period of plantation. To some extent this was even with the connivance of local planters; some London Companies infuriated the authorities by favouring Catholic priests on their lands, if only because they were model tenants who paid their rents promptly.


During the late sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries far more Scots leaving their homeland settled in Poland and Scandinavia than in Ulster. The great Scots migration to the north of Ireland began only in the 1650s and reached a peak in the 1690s. The assumption that religious and cultural differences kept British colonists and Gaelic Irish, and their descendants, as rigidly separate ethnic groups does not stand up to close scrutiny. There was far more intermingling than is generally acknowledged; otherwise British surnames, such as Hume, Adams and Sands, would not be found amongst Catholic nationalist activists, nor would native Irish ones, such as O’Neill, McCusker and Maginnis, be found amongst Protestant unionist politicians.


Despite jaundiced observations in government reports commissioned by James I, the British colonisation of most of Ulster was largely achieved. Perhaps as many as 35,000 English and Scots had settled in the province by 1622; but, as this book is at pains to point out, the greatest influx occurred in the second half of the seventeenth century. Up to a quarter of a million British crossed over to Ireland between 1586 and 1700, most of them to Ulster—a greater number than crossed the Atlantic from the Iberian Peninsula between 1500 and 1600.


That the Plantation of Ulster had a profound effect on the history of Ireland thereafter is universally acknowledged. It is less well known that it impinged significantly on developments on the other side of the Irish Sea. The City of London was persuaded by James I, very much against its inclinations, to become deeply involved in the plantation. Though the return on the great sums invested was meagre enough, the City was mercilessly hounded by Charles I for failing to adhere strictly to the conditions laid down. This was not the only reason for London coming down firmly on the side of Parliament, but it was a major one, ultimately ensuring the Royalists’ defeat in the Civil War.


In September 1718 a seventy-ton vessel,the Maccullum, set out from Derry Quay across the Atlantic. With the Rev. James Woodside at their head, about a hundred passengers disembarked at Boston. This could be regarded as the beginning of a great and sustained exodus from Ulster to North America. By 1775 at least 100,000 and perhaps as many as 200,000 had left Ulster for Colonial America, and the migration began again once King George III had given official recognition to the United States of America in 1783.


Even greater numbers emigrated in the nineteenth century. Americans referred to these immigrants as the ‘Scotch-Irish’. By this time most of these people had been in Ulster for several generations. The majority were Presbyterians, descended from Scots who had earlier colonised Ulster; however, there were nearly as many members of the Church of Ireland (Anglican settlers principally of English origin), drawn from a wider area, and considerable numbers of Catholics of native Irish stock, as indicated by surname evidence, many of whom became Protestants soon after landing. The striking fact is that very few Scots had yet—at least in the eighteenth century—emigrated directly from Scotland to Colonial America.


These ‘Scotch-Irish’ and their descendants were to play a pivotal role in the shaping of the United States. They and their forebears had long experience of building fortifications in hostile territory, of felling timber and clearing the land for the plough and of engaging woodkerne, tories, raparees and other native Irish who resented their intrusion. They were to become energetic pioneers in the ‘back country’, pushing the frontiers of European settlement in North America inexorably westwards. Famously, they and their descendants provided the United States with many presidents, generals and entrepreneurs.


Even more Protestants left Ulster for America in the nineteenth century than in the previous one, but by then Catholic Irish were arriving in greater numbers. As Prof. Don Akenson has pointed out, there are far more citizens in the United States of Ulster Protestant descent than of Irish Catholic descent: the Scotch-Irish had a century head start in which to increase their numbers. Akenson also refers to detailed surveys which show that those claiming Irish Catholic ancestry are far more prosperous today than those claiming Scotch-Irish ancestry—almost certainly because those Irish escaping hunger and destitution sought refuge in booming industrial cities, while the region of the Appalachians and the South suffered prolonged economic blight.


The tragedy for Ireland was that the conquest and colonisation of Ulster took place at a time when western and central Europe were rent by bitter religious divisions. Events and developments thereafter, not only in Ireland but also on the other side of the Irish Sea, prevented wounds sustained earlier from healing over. The outcome was a dangerously fractured society in the north. In this, Northern Ireland is not unique in Europe: in Belgium the divisions between French and Flemish-speakers are acute, but at least the Belgians have not been killing each other over their differences. In Northern Ireland, memories of previous dispossessions and massacres passed down from one generation to another. Ancient hatreds welled to the surface in bitter violence in 1969 that soon surpassed that of 1920–22 and made the region the most continuously disturbed part of Europe since the ending of the Second World War. By the end of the millennium a total of 3,651 men, women and children lost their lives in Northern Ireland as a direct result of the violence. Though shorter-lived, the much bloodier ethnic slaughter accompanying the break-up of Yugoslavia in the 1990s grimly demonstrated what could happen in an all-out conflict in Northern Ireland. Yet the era of terrorism and sectarian murders was brought to an end, and during the twenty-first century, and at the time of writing, a remarkable peace has prevailed.


Material informing virtually all the observations made above can be found in a wide range of scholarly works. In a book of this scope the author is especially reliant on the published findings of specialists. I hope that these writers will consider acknowledgement of their work in the references and bibliography in part an expression of my gratitude. William Roulston was particularly generous in making some of his unpublished material available to me and in providing advice on sources. Carol Tweedale, Margaret Bannon, Nonie Murray and Victor Blease valiantly undertook the task of reading draft chapters to comment on how the text might be received by the non-specialist, and their advice urging further clarification was much appreciated. Patrick Speight, Alison Finch, Norbert Bannon, the late Timothy McCall, Trevor Parkhill, Aodán Mac Póilin, Bill (W. H.) Crawford and Don Akenson provided many invaluable insights, as did a group of men of my own vintage who meet once a month in Belfast to discuss Ireland’s past, the island’s present condition and the country’s literary heritage. They are Maurice Blease, Victor Blease, Douglas Carson, David Coffey, Brian Garrett, Liam Kearney, John Knox, Eddie McCamley, Alister McReynolds, Frank Murray, Peter Spratt and Barry White. My thanks also to the staffs of the Linen Hall Library, Queen’s University Library, Belfast Central Library and the Public Record Office of Northern Ireland and to Natasha McGowan, Sean Hughes, Tim Smyth and Laura Spence for their interest and support.


‘Now I would like to visit more of those places I’ve been reading about in your book,’ my wife, Carol, said to me on the day I submitted the main text to the publishers. Next morning we set off from Belfast, starting at Charlemont Fort and Castlecaulfield. Driving by the western shores of Lough Neagh, we stopped to climb up to Tullaghoge, the magnificent view over so much of Ulster making it plain why the O’Neills had chosen it as their inauguration site. We called at Bellaghy Bawn, the Vintners’ impregnable-looking fortification, and then on to Dunluce; this romantic ruin in a beautiful setting we had been to many a time, but now we saw it for what it was, a planter’s castle. (The newly written government guide leaflet is so informative that it was at once added to the bibliography.) On our return journey we halted to admire the imposing seventeenth-century defensive wall at Glenarm before calling in at Ballygalley to view the castle adorned with tourelles in the Scots baronial style. The following evening we walked around the Bishop’s Castle at Ballylumford and Castle Chichester at Whitehead and along the surviving defences put up by Sir Arthur Chichester at Carrickfergus. Then—fighting our way through briars, nettles and farm equipment—we struggled around Dalway’s Bawn, the most complete bawn in Ulster.


The province bristles with evidence of the plantation in stone. Western Ulster boasts many of the finest: Castle Murray, commanding an exquisite view across Donegal Bay; Donegal Castle, sensitively restored; the menacing defences of Monea; the handsome Watergate in Enniskillen; Termon McGrath, near Pettigo, one of the grandest and least visited ruins in the area; and, probably the most rewarding of all, Tully Castle, on the southern shore of Lower Lough Erne.
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Map 1: Lordships in Ulster c. 1590 (from Mallory and McNeill, The Archaeology of Ulster)
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Map 2: Lord Deputy Mountjoy’s campaign against the Earl of Tyrone and his allies, 1600–1603 (from Mallory and McNeill, The Archaeology of Ulster)
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Map 3: The Plantation of Ulster, 1609–13. Antrim and Down were not included in the scheme, as those counties were already being colonised by British brought in by Sir Hugh Montgomery, Sir James Hamilton, Sir Randal MacDonnell and Sir Arthur Chichester (from a map by T. W. Moody and R. J. Hunter in Moody, Martin and Byrne, A New History of Ireland, IX).
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Map 4: The rebellion in Ulster and north Leinster, October 1641 to February 1642 (from Perceval-Maxwell, The Outbreak of the Irish Rebellion of 1641)










TIME-LINE



The reign of Elizabeth I (1558–1603)
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Elsewhere









	

1562: Hugh O’Neill taken into protective custody by Sidney




	

1562: Shane O’Neill in London




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1571: Ottoman Turks defeated at Lepanto









	

1572: Thomas Smith lands at Strangford




	

 




	

1572: St Bartholomew’s Day massacre of Huguenots









	

1573: Earl of Essex begins attempt to colonise eastern Ulster; Smith killed




	

 




	

 









	

1585: Scheme for Plantation of Munster drawn up; Hugh O’Neill becomes Earl of Tyrone




	

 




	

1585: Raleigh sends out English settlers to Roanoke in Virginia









	

 




	

1587: Execution of Mary Queen of Scots




	

 









	

 




	

1588: Spanish Armada




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1592: St Patrick’s College founded at Salamanca









	

1594: Nine Years’ War begins




	

 




	

 









	

1598: Tyrone’s victory at the Yellow Ford




	

 




	

1598: Edict of Nantes; death of Philip 11









	

1601: Irish and Spanish defeated at Kinsale




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1602: Red Hugh O’Donnell dies at Simancas












The reign of James I (1603–25)














	

Ireland




	

Great Britain




	

Elsewhere









	

1603: Tyrone submits at Mellifont




	

1603: Tyrone and Rory O’Donnell meet James I in London; O’Donnell made Earl of Tyrconnell




	

 









	

1604: Derry incorporated as a city




	

1604: Hampton Court conference




	

 









	

1605: Chichester sworn in as Lord Deputy; Upper Clandeboye and Great Ards divided between Sir Hugh Montgomery, James Hamilton and Sir Conn O’Neill




	

1605: Gunpowder Plot




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1606: Foundation of St Anthony’s Franciscan College, Louvain









	

1607: Flight of the Earls




	

 




	

1607: First permanent English settlement of Virginia at Jamestown









	

1608: Rebellion of Sir Cahir O’Doherty; six counties in Ulster surveyed and escheated




	

 




	

1608: Tyrone and Tyrconnell in Rome; death of Tyrconnell; John Smith president of Virginia









	

1609: Plan of plantation for six confiscated counties in Ulster




	

 




	

1609: Irish swordsmen arrive in Sweden









	

1610: British undertakers assigned lands in Ulster




	

1610: London Companies’ agreement with Crown to take part in Plantation of Ulster




	

1610: Murder of Henry IV of France









	

1611: Carew’s survey of British colonisation of Ulster




	

 




	

 









	

1613: Bodley’s survey of Plantation of Ulster; incorporation of Londonderry, Coleraine, Belfast and twenty other Ulster towns




	

 




	

 









	

1614: Bodley’s second survey




	

 




	

 









	

1615: Conspiracy of Gaelic gentry in Ulster




	

 




	

 









	

1616: Bodley’s third survey




	

 




	

1616: O’Neill dies in Rome









	

1618: Pynnar begins survey of Plantation of Ulster




	

 




	

1618: Bohemian Revolt begins the Thirty Years’ War









	

 




	

 




	

1620: Crew of Mayflower land at Plymouth Rock; Battle of White Mountain, near Prague; Ulster planter Robert Davies amongst the defeated









	

1622: Commission which includes survey of Plantation of Ulster (‘Phillips Survey’)




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

1623: Buckingham and Prince Charles depart to seek hand of Infanta in marriage




	

 












The reign of James I (1625–49)
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1625: Failed English expedition to Cádiz









	

1626: Charles I offers ‘graces’ to Irish subjects in return for subsidies




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1627: England at war with France; failed expedition to La Rochelle, during which Ulster planter Sir Ralph Bingley killed on the Ile de Rhé









	

 




	

1628: Assassination of Buckingham




	

 









	

 




	

1629: ‘Eleven Years’ Tyranny’ begins




	

 









	

1632: Wentworth appointed Lord Deputy




	

 




	

1632: Gustavus Adolphus, King of Sweden, killed at Battle of Lützen









	

 




	

1635: Star Chamber trial results in fine and surrender of Londonderry charter by City




	

 









	

1636: Voyage of the Eagle Wing




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

1638: National Covenant in Scotland




	

 









	

1639: ‘Black Oath’ imposed in Ulster




	

1639: First Bishops’ War




	

1639: Catechismus, first book in Irish in roman type, printed in Brussels









	

1640: Charles I’s second Irish Parliament




	

1640: Second Bishops’ War; ‘Long Parliament’ begins to sit




	

1640: Eoghan Roe O’Neill defends Arras against the French









	

1641: Rebellion in Ulster; massacres; alliance of Ulster Irish and Old English




	

1641: Execution of Strafford (Wentworth)




	

 









	

1642: Confederation of Kilkenny; Monro (veteran of Lützen) at Carrickfergus; Eoghan Roe O’Neill lands in Co. Donegal




	

1642: Adventurers’ Act, offering confiscated land in Ireland in return for loans; English Civil War begins




	

 









	

 




	

1645: Royalists defeated at Naseby




	

 









	

1646: Eoghan Roe O’Neill’s victory at Benburb




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1648: Peace of Westphalia ends Thirty Years’ War









	

1649: Fever sweeps Ireland




	

1649: Execution of Charles I




	

 












The Commonwealth (1649–60)
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Great Britain




	

Elsewhere









	

1649: Cromwell in Ireland; massacres at Drogheda and Wexford




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1650: Since 1600 up to 40,000 Scots have settled in Poland and up to 30,000 in Scandinavia









	

1653: Sir Phelim O’Neill captured and executed




	

1653: Cromwell made Lord Protector; Act of Satisfaction to arrange transplantation to Connacht




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1655: Vaudois Protestants massacred at Piedmont









	

 




	

1658: Death of Cromwell




	

 












The reign of Charles II (1660–85)
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1660: Charles II proclaimed King in Dublin




	

1660: Charles II enters London




	

 









	

1662: First Court of Claims




	

1662: Act of Settlement




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1663: Colonisation of Carolinas begins









	

 




	

 




	

1665: Dutch and English at war









	

 




	

1666: Great Fire of London




	

 









	

 




	

 




	

1680: Turks besiege Buda; charger captured (‘Byerley Turk’), later present at Boyne in 1690; Penn granted Pennsylvania









	

 




	

 




	

1681: Turks besiege Vienna









	

 




	

1681: Execution of Archbishop Oliver Plunkett




	

 









	

1682: Construction of Long Bridge over Lagan at Belfast begins




	

 




	

 












The reign of James II (1685–9)
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1685: Louis XIV revokes Edict of Nantes









	

1687: Tyrconnell appointed Lord Deputy




	

 




	

 









	

1688: Thirteen apprentice boys close the gates of Derry to Lord Antrim’s army




	

1688: William of Orange lands at Torbay; James II flees to France




	

 












The reign of William III and Mary (1689–1702)
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1689: Siege of Derry ends; Battle of Newtownbutler; Schomberg lands in Co. Down




	

1689: William and Mary joint monarchs




	

 









	

1690: William III wins Battle of the Boyne




	

1690: Royal Navy defeated by French at Beachy Head




	

 









	

1691: Battle of Aughrim; Treaty of Limerick




	

 




	

 









	

 




	

1692: Massacre of MacDonalds at Glencoe




	

1692: Salem witch trials









	

1695: Irish Parliament enacts first Penal Laws against Catholics




	

1695: First of ‘Seven Ill Years’ of famine in Scotland




	

 












The reign of Anne (1702–14)
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Elsewhere









	

1704: Act to Prevent the Further Growth of Popery




	

 




	

1704: Battle of Blenheim









	

 




	

 




	

1706: Battle of Ramillies









	

1707: Belfast Castle destroyed by fire




	

1707: Union of English and Scottish Parliaments
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‘A PRINCE’S PURSE AND


POWER MUST DO IT’:


ELIZABETH AND GAELIC


ULSTER


FAILED ATTEMPTS TO PLANT THE ARDS AND CLANDEBOYE


In November 1571 Sir Thomas Smith persuaded Queen Elizabeth to grant him the lands of the Ards Peninsula and of Upper Clandeboye in eastern Ulster. Provost of Eton, vice-chancellor at Cambridge and a privy councillor, Smith was certain that the only way to restore the Crown’s hold on Ireland was by ‘plantation’, that is, colonisation by loyal English subjects who would bring civility, order and the Protestant faith to the barbarous people there. In a pamphlet outlining his plans, Smith made it clear that he intended to sweep away the native Irish, except for ‘churls’ to plough the soil: ‘Every Irishman shall be forbidden to wear English apparel or weapon upon pain of death. That no Irishman, born of Irish race and brought up Irish, shall purchase land, bear office, be chosen of any jury.’1 The Queen’s secretary, Sir William Cecil, Lord Burghley, was so confident of the success of this scheme that he invested £33 6s 8d in it.


Smith’s enterprise was doomed from the outset. Only about a hundred prospective planters set foot at the village of Strangford on 31 August 1572. Led by Smith’s son, also called Thomas, the interlopers advanced north through the woods of the Dufferin to Newtownards, only to find that the Lord of Upper Clandeboye, Sir Brian MacPhelim O’Neill, had responded by sweeping through north Down, burning abbeys and other buildings which might give shelter to the English. Smith had to seek refuge in Ringhaddy Castle, and it was in vain that he appealed to Dublin for help. For his part Sir William Fitzwilliam, the Queen’s Lord Deputy, was furious when he heard of the expedition. Had not Brian O’Neill been knighted recently for his services to the Crown against Shane O’Neill of Tyrone? Might not this ill-considered scheme set Ulster aflame at a time when Munster was in full insurrection?


In October 1573 an Irish servant stabbed and killed Sir Thomas’s son; his body was then boiled and fed to the dogs. By then a more grandiose enterprise was already under way. On 16 August 1573 a second expedition set out from Liverpool. Its leader, Walter Devereux, Earl of Essex, was so certain of success that he had mortgaged most of his extensive English and Welsh estates to raise ten thousand pounds to finance the project. The Queen—grateful for Essex’s service in crushing Northumberland’s rebellion and in foiling the escape attempt by Mary Queen of Scots from Tutbury—had granted him all of Clandeboye, the Route, the Glens of Antrim, the island of Rathlin and much else besides, from the sea west to the River Bann and Lough Neagh. She paid half the cost of the thousand soldiers he brought over with him.


Dispersed by a northerly wind, the expedition had an uncertain beginning. Essex took refuge on the Copeland Islands until he could sail for Carrickfergus. Faced with such a large intruding force, Sir Brian made cautious submission. ‘I took him by the hand’, Essex reported, ‘as a sign of his restitution to her Highness’s service.’ The chief of Clandeboye was not impressed, however, when Essex took ten thousand head of his cattle into custody, and after a fortnight he bribed the guards at Carrickfergus to release them. Essex pursued Sir Brian in vain, and the cattle were secreted at Massereene.


The gentlemen colonists soon lost enthusiasm, and little was achieved. In November 1573 Essex wrote in complaint to the Queen:




Two great disadvantages I find in this little time of my continuance here. The first by the adventurers, of whom the most part, not having forgotten the delicacies of England, and wanting the resolute minds to endure the travail of a year or two in this waste country, having forsaken me, feigning excuses to repair home where I hear they give forth speeches in dislike of the enterprise to the discouragement of others. The second, that the common hired soldiers, both horsemen and footmen, mislike of their pay.2





He hanged some Devon men for attempted desertion and imprisoned Captain William Piers, Constable of Carrickfergus, for showing friendship with Sir Brian. The Queen kept her faith in Essex and made him Governor of Ulster, but the enterprise fared no better the following year. The earl had assured Elizabeth that he ‘would not willingly imbrue his hands with more blood than the necessity of the cause requireth’. In fact he shed a great deal of blood, and to little effect.


Essex restored peace with Sir Brian, but this was to occasion a unique act of treachery. When the agreement was made, Essex and his principal followers accepted an invitation to a feast in Belfast Castle in October 1574. The Annals of the Four Masters, written by Franciscan friars in Donegal Abbey between 1632 and 1636, recorded the outcome:




They passed three nights and days together pleasantly and cheerfully. At the expiration of this time, as they were agreeably drinking and making merry, Brian, his brother, and his wife, were seized upon by the Earl, and all his people put unsparingly to the sword—men, women, youths, and maidens—in Brian’s own presence. Brian was afterwards sent to Dublin, together with his wife and brother, where they were cut in quarters. Such was the end of their feast.3





Next year Essex slaughtered a band of O’Neills taking refuge on an island at Banbridge and wreaked havoc deep into the province when he made war on the most powerful lord in Ulster, Turlough Luineach O’Neill of Tyrone. Another act of barbarity followed that summer. Essex was determined to break the growing power of the MacDonnells of the Glens. Three frigates and other vessels set out from Carrickfergus on 20 July 1575 commanded by Francis Drake, already famous for his seizure of a Spanish treasure convoy at Nombre de Díos, Panama, the year before. On board were 380 men under Captain John Norris, Constable of Belfast and son of a Groom of the Stole who had been executed for adultery with Anne Boleyn.


The assault fleet reached Arkill Bay on the east side of the island of Rathlin on the morning of 22 July. The castle on the island was garrisoned by only fifty soldiers, but the MacDonnells had moved their women and children there for safety. The MacDonnells fought to prevent a landing, but the English, Essex reported, ‘did with valiant minds leap to land, and charged them so hotly, as they drave them to retire with speed, chasing them to a castle which they had of very great strength’. For four days the castle was pounded by ship’s cannon; without a well, its wooden ramparts destroyed by red-hot cannon balls and its gate breached, it could not hold out for long. The garrison surrendered at dawn on 26 July on condition that their lives were spared; but as the newly appointed Lord Deputy, Sir Henry Sidney, reported:




The soldiers, being moved and much stirred with the loss of their fellows that were slain, and desirous of revenge, made request, or rather pressed, to have the killing of them, which they did all … There were slain that came out of the castle of all sorts 200 … They be occupied still in killing, and have slain that they have found hidden in caves and in the cliffs of the sea to the number of 300 or 400 more.





Essex relayed to the Queen information received from his spy that the Lord of the Glens, Sorley Boy MacDonnell, had ‘stood upon the mainland of the Glynnes and saw the taking of the island, and was like to run mad for sorrow (as the spy saith), turning and tormenting himself, and saying that he had then lost all that ever he had’. Elizabeth did not reprove Essex for the cruelty he had authorised; on the contrary, he was told to inform Captain Norris ‘that we will not be unmindful of his good services’, and she added in her own hand:




If lines could value life; or thanks could answer praise, I should esteem my pen’s labour the best employed time that many years had lent me … Your most loving cousin and sovereign E.R.4





Essex declared to the Queen: ‘For my part I will not leave the enterprise as long as I have any foot of land in England unsold’; but there was no disguising his failure. Lord Deputy Sidney came north in September and found Clandeboye ‘utterly disinhabited’, Kinelarty ‘desolate and waste’ and Carrickfergus ‘much decayed and impoverished’; and he observed that Rathlin was ‘veri easy to be wonne at any tyme but very chardgious and hard to be held’.5 Granted the title of Earl Marshal, Essex retired to Dublin, where he died of dysentery in September at the age of thirty-six. The Lord Deputy felt that a better man might have been successful, and he continued to urge the Queen to promote ‘the introduction of collonys of English and other loyal subjects, whereby a perpetuall inhabitation would have ensued to be a recompense as well of that which was spent’, and build up the ‘strength of the country against all forreyne invasion’. The Essex fiasco, however, led Sidney to conclude that such a scheme was ‘no subject’s enterprise, a prince’s purse and power must do it’.6


So, indeed, it proved.


‘THE PURCHASE OF THAT PLOT IS, AND HATH BEEN, VERY DEAR’: PLANTING LAOIS AND OFFALY


In 1575 Sidney was serving for the seventh time as Lord Deputy, the Queen’s chief governor in Ireland. He was one of a new breed of English administrators who believed that all Ireland should be brought to adopt English law and the reformed religion, and to submit to the power of the Crown. He had, however, to operate within the limited resources Elizabeth was prepared to make available. For most of her reign Elizabeth had no wish to be a conqueror of Ireland. Her view would change only when war with Spain made the island a vulnerable western flank imperilling England’s security.


By the fifteenth century the Crown remained in control only of the coastal towns and an area around Dublin between Dundalk and Bray and inland to Naas, known as the Pale. Beyond the Pale, descendants of the first Norman conquerors had become independent warlords, and the English, Welsh and Flemings they had brought with them had become ever more gaelicised. The author of the Libelle of Englyshe Polyce (1436) pointed out that ‘the wylde Yrishe’ had regained so much of the island that




Our grounde there is a lytell cornere


To all Yrelande in treue comparison.7





Elizabeth’s father, Henry VIII, had restored the Crown’s authority over much of the country. In part this had been achieved by punitive military campaigns, but he had also put his faith in the power of persuasion. He had set out his thoughts in a long letter in 1540—to ‘bring Irish captains to further obedience’, and to recover royal lands the King suggested ‘circumspect and politic ways … which thing must as yet rather be practised by sober ways, politic drifts, and amiable persuasions’.8 The outcome was that Gaelic lords were invited to hold their lands by English feudal law; they were to drop their traditional Irish titles and give up their lands to the King, receiving them back immediately with English titles. To facilitate the process, Henry had himself proclaimed King of Ireland in 1541.


One by one nearly all the lords submitted and received fresh English titles. In short, this policy of ‘surrender and regrant’ enjoyed considerable success, and Elizabeth continued to implement it when it seemed appropriate. The granting of new titles, however, did not guarantee a genuine extension of royal power and English law. When the ten-year-old Edward VI came to the throne in 1547 his Lord Protectors listened to the advice of those who sought subjugation and not co-operation. His successor, Mary, then had given her full support to those at court who thought that tough military action was the only lesson the rebellious Irish would understand.


When she had come to the throne in 1558 Elizabeth was not short of advice on what should be done with Ireland. The problem was that much of this advice was contradictory, and, as a result, she vacillated between conciliation and military punishment. As Ireland was a constant drain on the royal finances, the advocates of conciliation often won the day; but as her reign progressed, the pressure on Elizabeth to apply a military solution became ever stronger. This was the era of European discovery, when the Spanish and Portuguese were establishing colonies in the New World. Could Ireland be an English Hispaniola where loyal subjects could be planted? Not only might these colonies bring ‘civility’ to a barbarous land and secure devotion to the Protestant religion but also they could more than recoup the costs of conquest. The population of England was rising fast, and certainly there was no shortage of younger sons of gentlemen who were inheriting nothing at home petitioning Elizabeth’s court, and that of the Lord Deputy in Dublin Castle, for permission to carve out new patrimonies for themselves in Ireland.


Sidney was a persuasive advocate of plantation, that is, of colonisation as a long-term solution. He was deeply critical, however, of the first major Tudor plantation in Ireland. Queen Mary had authorised repeated campaigns into the island’s interior in an attempt to extend the frontiers of the Pale westwards. Two midland counties had been confiscated from the Irish there and renamed: Laois became ‘Queen’s County’ and Offaly was titled ‘King’s County’ after Mary’s husband, King Philip II of Spain. There followed an ambitious scheme to colonise these two counties with loyal subjects. The Gaelic nobles were either executed or expelled, but a proposal to drive out or slaughter all the native Irish inhabitants of the counties had been rejected on the grounds that it would be ‘a marvellous sumptuous charge’. In return for rent payable to the Crown, land was allocated to ‘Englishmen born in England or Ireland’—most of the colonists, in fact, were families from the Pale.


This plantation could hardly be regarded as a success. The principal Gaelic families in the midlands—the O’Connors, O’Mores and O’Dempseys—rebelled at least a dozen times in the ensuing decades. They were still rebelling during Sir Henry Sidney’s last years in office. The Lord Deputy gave local English commanders a free hand, with grim results: in 1577 Robert Hartpole, Constable of Carlow, added to the catalogue of atrocities carried out in Elizabeth’s name when more than fifty O’Mores were treacherously massacred at Mullaghmast, Co. Kildare. The hope was that the royal government could make a profit; in practice, the cost of protecting the colonists and crushing the surviving dispossessed was ruinous. Sidney ruefully observed that the ‘revenue of both the countries countervails not the twentieth part of the charge, so that the purchase of that plot is, and hath been, very dear’.9


GAELIC ULSTER: ‘THE GREAT IRISHRY’


More than any other part of Ireland, Ulster was beyond the Pale. It remained the most Gaelic, least anglicised and most independent of the four provinces. John de Courcy, a knight from Cumbria, had invaded northwards in 1177 and conquered the coastlands of Down and Antrim. Those who came after him extended this Earldom of Ulster along the north coast and even built a fortress on Inishowen, Greencastle, arguably the most remote Norman castle in western Europe. The earldom, however, was always a precarious marchland. In Down (which did not become a county until 1570) it never extended further west than the motte-and-bailey castles of Dromore and Duneight, for example. Then, in the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, these lands, never more than lightly settled, were all but lost to the Crown.


Emerging from their woody fastness of Glenconkeyne, the descendants of Áed Buidhe O’Neill—a former king of Tír Eoghain—crossed the Lower Bann and carved out a new lordship for themselves from the shattered remnants of the earldom. The Whites of the Dufferin abandoned their inheritance on the western shores of Strangford Lough for the safety of the Pale, while the Savages, driven out of Moylinny (the valley of the Six Mile Water), hung on precariously to the southern tip of the Ards. The Magennises and MacCartans engulfed central and southern Down, while the O’Neills of Clann Aodha Buidhe emerged as the principal Gaelic lords of eastern Ulster: they dominated a sweep of territory extending from Larne inland to Edenduffcarrick (now Shane’s Castle, near Randalstown) and taking in the castle of Belfast and north Down, including much of the Ards Peninsula. This territory the English called Clandeboye after the ruling family which had conquered it. Carrickfergus—built by de Courcy with the largest keep in Ireland and now a royal castle—was left isolated, described in 1468 as ‘a garrison of war … surrounded by Irish and Scots, without succour of the English for sixty miles’.10


One freshly arrived English family, however, had established itself on Ulster’s southern frontier. Sir Nicholas Bagenal, a knight from Staffordshire, had been forced to leave England in 1539 to escape justice after committing unspecified crimes. He served as military adviser to Conn Bacach O’Neill, who, after he had been made the 1st Earl of Tyrone, obtained a pardon for him. By the beginning of Elizabeth’s reign Sir Nicholas had been granted the abbey lands of Newry, where he made good progress in developing a town. He was also Marshal of the Queen’s Army in Ireland, a title he was able to pass on to his son Sir Henry.11


In contrast with Gaelic Ulster, subject only to intermittent and ineffective interference by the English Crown, another part of the Gaelic world was meanwhile succumbing to the power of Edinburgh. Assisted by the Campbells, James IV of Scotland in 1476 forced the surrender of the MacDonalds, the ruling family, and absorbed the Isles into his kingdom. One branch of the MacDonalds, the Lords of Islay and Kintyre, fought a desperate rearguard action. It was in the Glens of Antrim, acquired as a result of a marriage alliance in 1399 between John Mór MacDonald and Margery Bisset, the last heiress of a Norman family long settled there, that these MacDonalds (known in Ireland as MacDonnells) found refuge. As the sixteenth century progressed, the Antrim MacDonnells extended their lordship to the Route, where they subdued the MacQuillans, and southwards to the frontier of Clandeboye. These MacDonnells made marriage alliances with all the leading families of Ulster, including the Savages, and brought with them MacNeills, MacAllisters, MacKays and Macrandalbanes from Kintyre and Gigha, and from the Rinns of Islay the Magees, after whom Islandmagee is named. Others ranged backwards and forwards from the Isles to serve as mercenaries for the Gaelic lords of Ulster. To the English Crown these Gaelic-speaking Scots were just as much a threat as the native Irish. The Irish Council in Dublin was so alarmed that it sent this despatch to Henry VIII in 1533:




The Scottes also inhabithe now buyselley a greate parte of Ulster, which is the king’s inheritance; and it is greatlie to be feared, oonles that in short tyme they be driven from the same, that they … woll, by little and little soe far encroche in acquyinge and wynninge the possessions there, with the aide of the kingis disobeysant Irishe rebelles, who doo nowe ayde theym therein after soche manner, that at lengthe they will put and expel the king from his whole seignory there.12





The most extensive area in Ireland under complete Gaelic control was centred on Ulster and long known to officials in Dublin Castle—when they were not calling it the ‘Land of War’—as the ‘Great Irishry’. The most powerful native rulers in all of Ireland were the O’Neills of Tír Eoghain, a much larger lordship in area than the present county of Tyrone. Amongst those subject to them were O’Cahans (now O’Kanes), O’Hagans, O’Devlins, O’Quinns and O’Mullans, each with a subordinate lord. Second only to Tír Eoghain was Tír Chonaill, rather larger than the present county of Donegal, a lordship ruled by the O’Donnells which had sway over the O’Dohertys of Inishowen, the O’Gallaghers of Glenveagh, the MacDavitts, the O’Boyles and three branches of the MacSweeneys, descendants of Hebridean mercenaries known as gallóglaigh, or gallowglass. Other leading Gaelic families of Ulster, often obliged to resist attempts by O’Neills and O’Donnells to become their overlords, were the Maguires of Fermanagh, the O’Reillys of Cavan, the O’Hanlons of Armagh and the MacMahons of Monaghan.


LORDS, GENEALOGISTS, LAWYERS, PHYSICIANS, HARPERS AND POETS


Though ravaged by Vikings and overrun in parts by Anglo-Normans, great swathes of Ulster had never been conquered or settled by outsiders—at least not since warrior chiefs and their followers, driven west by Roman legions from Britain and Gaul, had subjugated indigenous inhabitants to carve out new kingdoms for themselves in Ireland. Most Gaelic lords of the north could trace their ancestry back at least to early Christian times. Here society had been able to evolve with remarkably little dislocation imposed from outside; here many ancient traditions, beliefs, customs and practices, which had once prevailed in much of Celtic-speaking Europe north of the Alps, had not been lost. That is not to say that Gaelic society in Ulster had remained much the same as it had been in early Christian times: though often condemned by Elizabethan officials as ‘barbarous’ and devoid of ‘civility’, the native Irish here were constantly adapting to developments elsewhere.


Elizabethan Ulster bristled with small castles known as tower-houses, much like border peels (small fortified towers on the frontier between Scotland and England) and hardly different from tower-houses of the ruling classes in the most anglicised parts of Ireland. A typical tower-house was a single tall rectangular keep, at least twelve metres high and slightly tapered, with two towers flanking the main entrance connected by a bold arch. Constructed for defence—often at the expense of comfort—these were the residences of Gaelic lords and their centres of power.


The title of a principal lord was simply that of his lineage: for example, the ruler of Tír Eoghain in Lord Deputy Sidney’s day, Turlough Luineach O’Neill, was simply Ó Néill, usually translated as ‘the O’Neill’. The inauguration rituals of Irish chiefs were very archaic—originally they were treated as a wedding of a king to his kingdom. The ceremonies were usually held on ancient Neolithic or Bronze Age sites. The site had to include a special slab or flagstone and a sacred tree or a doire, a grove of oak trees—for example, Derrygonnelly in Co. Fermanagh means the ‘oak grove of the O’Connollys’, where this family had the right to inaugurate the Maguire lord. For the O’Donnells the site was near Kilmacrenan at the Rock of Doon, next the holy well Tobar Eithne, whose waters were said to run blood whenever an O’Donnell was about to suffer a violent death. The O’Neills of Tír Eoghain were inaugurated standing on the ‘Stone of Kings’, shaped like a huge chair, at Tullaghoge—when he smashed it to pieces in 1601 Lord Deputy Mountjoy knew the symbolic importance of his act. After being circled three times, the newly installed lord had placed in his hands a white rod, an tslat sheilbhe, ‘the rod of possession’, to symbolise the transfer of legal ownership of the title: the O’Donnell chosen lord was given the rod by the coarb (comharba, a church dignitary regarded as a saint’s successor) of the monastery of St Columcille at Kilmacrenan. Then a shoe was put on the lord’s foot by his uirrí, his principal vassal, in O’Neill’s case by the Lord O’Cahan.13


The extent of each lordship—known to the English as a ‘country’ and to the Irish as an oireacht—was in a constant state of flux. Partly this was the result of expansion of the ruling family from the top downwards. As the seventeenth-century scholar Dualtach Mac Firbhisigh explained, ‘as the sons and families of the rulers multiplied, so their subjects and followers were squeezed out and withered away’.14 This process could be rapid because Gaelic lords practised serial monogamy, sending one wife back to her father after a few years and taking on another. Hugh O’Neill, the last Earl of Tyrone, had five wives. This could lead to fierce disputes on the death of a lord: primogeniture was not yet the norm, and the successor could in theory be chosen as the ‘worthiest’ by the high-born from any member of the deirbhfhine, ‘certain family’, a very large group which included first cousins and extended over four generations. The reality was that a man from the ruling family might make himself lord so long as he was popular enough and powerful enough to do so.


As a way of limiting disputes, a ruling lord would nominate a tánaiste, ‘second in position’, to succeed him. The Maguires of Fermanagh were able to pass on the succession from father to son in this way for more than two centuries, but they were unusual. Until the accession of Red Hugh O’Donnell in 1592, Tír Chonaill in particular was frequently convulsed by succession disputes. The practice of taking wives one after another could rapidly swell the ranks of the eligible. In the fifteenth century Turlough O’Donnell had eighteen sons by ten different women and fifty-nine grandsons in the male line. Mulmory O’Reilly of East Bréifne, which became Co. Cavan, had fifty-eight grandsons when he died, in 1566.15 Illegitimate male children were not excluded from the right of succession. Fosterage was a custom of ancient origin, designed to maintain good relations with neighbours; girls were sent away between the ages of seven and fourteen, and boys between seven and seventeen. Turlough Luineach O’Neill, Lord of Tír Eoghain, for example, was so called because he had been fostered with the O’Luneys of Munterloney.


Each noble family had therefore to ensure the careful maintenance of genealogies. This was a key function of the classes made up of families who followed as hereditary occupations the various learned professions as historians, physicians, jurists, harpers and poets. These formed a literate, professional class. Many of them were widely read, but in one important respect Gaelic Ulster was behind most of western and central Europe: it was not yet participating in the print revolution, and well into the seventeenth century important works, such as the Annals of the Four Masters, circulated only in manuscript. The lands assigned to these professionals were often held free of tribute and exactions, and they were exempt from military service, known as the gairm sluaigh or ‘calling out’ of the army. There was considerable overlap between these men and ‘erenagh’ (airchinneach) and ‘coarb’ (comharba) families, responsible for the administration of church lands. In Co. Fermanagh the O’Breslin jurists, the physician O’Cassidys, the O’Fialain poets and the O’Cianain and O’Luinin historians were all erenaghs. Poets were more than composers of verse: they were almost pagan priests, like pre-Christian druids, and were believed to possess extraordinary powers—their curses were thought to be capable of bringing about the injury or even the death of those castigated.


The English referred to the native Irish legal system as ‘Brehon Law’, from breitheamh, a judge. The law texts compiled in the eighth and ninth centuries, though often quoted, were no longer used in everyday legal work. This customary law—strongly influenced by Roman law—was administered by brehons drawn from hereditary legal families, such as the MacCawells, who served the O’Neills of Tír Eoghain. These judges generally based their decisions after arbitration with both parties. Those who refused to agree to arbitration could have their property seized. Cases were usually held at the regular assemblies on a rath or a hill in each lordship. To ensure the enforcement of decisions it was customary to appoint sureties (sláinte, meaning ‘protection’)—important individuals who were pledged to intervene if necessary. English commentators were particularly appalled by the absence of criminal law. In England and the Pale, execution was the usual punishment for crimes; in Gaelic Ireland those convicted—even of murder—simply had to pay damages to the injured party. For theft, the éiric, or compensation, involved a payment of several times the value of the stolen goods. The éiric for murder, especially of someone of high status, could be very high: in Tír Chonaill in 1600 it was 168 cows. Often the ‘whole kindred’ of the murderer was responsible for producing the compensation decided on. The English generally referred to a ‘whole kindred’ in Gaelic Ireland as a sept.16


LANDS ‘PARTIBLE AMONGST THE ISSUE MALE ‘


Crown officials strongly disapproved of the Gaelic system of land tenure and ownership. Lands were regularly redistributed, ‘parted and partible amongst the issue male of any dying possessed thereof’. The English applied the term ‘gavelkind’, a custom of inheritance which operated in Kent, to this redistribution. Sir John Davies explained that ‘after partition made, if any one of the sept died, his portion was not divided among his sons, but the chief of the sept made a new partition of all the lands belonging to that sept and gave to every one his part according to his antiquity’.17 He was not alone in condemning such partitions, because the shifting of shares acted as a strong disincentive to improve lands or to erect permanent buildings.


In England and in the Pale, landowners depended primarily on rents for their income. Gaelic lords had their own demesne lands, such as the land around Enniskillen which the Lord Maguire ‘manured with his own churls’. However, they relied principally on a wide range of exactions to maintain themselves, their families and their guests and, especially, to see to the upkeep of their troops. The English referred to arrangements for the free entertainment of the lord, his dependants and his fighting men as ‘coyne and livery’. A Gaelic lord expected to have his party and his retinue fed, accommodated and entertained by the proprietor of the lands he was visiting or passing through. The burden of this free entertainment—known as cuddies, from cuid oidhche, meaning a portion for the night—must have been heavy.


The costs involved in enduring the billeting of troops and of providing for fighting men were also high. The gallowglass were professional soldiers, described in 1600 as ‘picked and selected men of great and mighty bodies, cruel without compassion … choosing rather to die than to yield the field, so that when it cometh to handy blows, they are quickly slain or win the field’. Their wages and provisions were known as buannacht, anglicised as ‘bonnaght’, and Crown officials often referred to warriors serving Gaelic lords in general as ‘bonnaghts’. In wartime the great lords ordered an éirí amach, or uprising, of able-bodied men, the upper classes serving as horsemen and the freemen as footsoldiers, which the English called ‘kerne’ (from the Irish ceithearn).


The tribute to a lord was almost always levied in kind. Exactions included cattle, butter, ‘cakes of bread’, oats, beer for horseboys, food for hunting dogs, and a heriot, or death duty (usually his best beast), payable on the death of a tenant. Labour obligations included ploughing, reaping, cutting and drawing timber, and assistance in erecting tower-houses. Lords employed officers, hereditary seneschals known as maoir, to collect tribute and organise labour services. The marasgal, or marshal, organised the billeting of fighting men and the collection of associated levies. The O’Connellys were hereditary marshals to the MacMahons, and the O’Donnellys to the Tír Eoghain O’Neills—their perquisites included the heads and hides of cattle collected from vassals for O’Neill.18


LIVING OFF THE LAND


The O’Reillys seem to have been the only Gaelic family to establish a proper town in Ulster, namely Cavan, in their lordship of East Bréifne. Towns founded in the Earldom of Ulster had for the most part all but disappeared, such as Belfast, or had been reduced to modest villages, such as Strangford, Downpatrick and Coleraine. The only Norman foundation of any size was Carrickfergus, by far the largest town in Ulster. Ardglass, benefiting from its regular trade with the Pale, survived to replace Downpatrick as the main port for Lecale. On confiscated monastic lands beside Carlingford Lough, the Bagenals were making Newry a successful urban development. Some ecclesiastical centres such as Armagh could be described as towns, but others, notably Derry, were deserted. There was some nucleation around castles and tower-houses, but Ulster in Elizabeth’s time was overwhelmingly rural.


A striking feature of Gaelic Ulster was that the most densely populated parts were to become areas where seventeenth-century British colonisation was to be most successful, including the river valleys of the Lagan, Clogher, Foyle, Lower Bann and Roe, much of Clandeboye and the Ards, north Armagh, east Fermanagh and much of Cavan. These were the most productive parts of the province. The economy was overwhelmingly dependent on agriculture. On fertile land in the glens and on the plains, rectangular fields were carefully fenced against domestic animals with wood cut from coppiced trees and the land turned over with a light plough drawn by a team of four ‘garrons’, or working horses. The plough was attached to horses’ tails so as to cause the animals to halt if they should strike a rock or a stump, instead of continuing and so risking damage to the tackle. The poor used no more than a spade—a simple wooden implement with an iron sheath. Much of the arable land was cultivated in ridges, rather like American raised beds, to assist drainage in waterlogged areas, in the way that potatoes were grown in ‘lazy beds’ into the twentieth century. The broadcast seed corn favoured in Ulster was oats; some barley was grown for brewing and making uisce beatha, whiskey, but usually ale was made from malted oats or rye and flavoured with blackberries and herbs. Cutting, binding and stacking the corn made September the busiest time of the year. Just as ploughing by the tail horrified the English (it was forbidden by statute in the seventeenth century), so they were appalled by the Irish practice of burning the straw and chaff to leave the grain, rather than threshing it with flails. Most lords operated water mills for corn and for tucking wool, but many continued to use hand-querns to grind oats into meal.


The English consistently underestimated the importance of arable farming in Gaelic Ulster, but there is no doubt that cattle-raising was the basis of the rural economy. As each summer approached, herds were driven onto the hill slopes and drying fens and bogland. The herds and those who drove them were known collectively as caoruigheacht, anglicised as ‘creaght’. Those accompanying the cattle erected temporary post-and-wattle thatched dwellings with circular walls, staying with their hounds to protect calves from wolves, and milking cows to make butter.19 Then, in autumn, the cattle returned; after the harvest had been garnered in and fences had been broken up for winter fuel, the herds were brought to graze the long stubble and to manure the soil for next year’s crop. This form of transhumance, known as ‘booleying’, often led outsiders to conclude mistakenly that the Gaelic Irish lived a nomadic existence. As yet there was little in the way of hay-making; only cattle reserved for breeding survived the slaughter of beasts before the winter set in. Cattle herds could be very large: in 1600 Turlough Luineach O’Neill’s son, grandson and cousin each possessed two thousand head.20 The upper classes made sure that there was enough pasture for grazing their warhorses. Domestic stock included garrons, pigs, fowl and sheep—wool was pulled rather than shorn. The Gaelic lords jealously guarded their fishing rights on rivers where salmon coming in from the ocean to spawn were trapped and salted (rather than smoked) to find a ready market abroad.


The population of Ireland in 1600 was probably no more than three-quarters of a million, reduced by climatic deterioration, disease and warfare from a peak of about a million in 1300. It is particularly difficult to estimate the population of Ulster, which, though it was one of four provinces, almost certainly had less than a quarter of the island’s inhabitants.21


Trade was on a small scale. Tanned hides made up the bulk of exports, supplemented by coarse woollen mantles, linen, salted salmon and wolf hounds. The nobility had developed a taste for wine from Bordeaux and Spain, and this was Ulster’s main import. Tír Chonaill lords often accepted wine in exchange for giving Spanish and French vessels permission to use Arran Island as a base for fishing for herring: one fifteenth-century O’Donnell chief was known as Turlough an Fhíona, ‘of the wine’. Gaelic lords built their own coastal vessels, particularly in Tír Chonaill, and the constant traffic across the ‘Waters of Moyle’—the North Channel—ensured that MacDonnells fashioned seasoned oak from the Glens of Antrim to build their fleets of galleys. Foreign vessels for the most part put in at Carrickfergus, Ardglass and Ballyshannon.


MANTLES, GLIBS, BONNYCLABBER AND THE ‘KING OF SPAIN’S DAUGHTER’


The intense class-consciousness—indeed, the snobbery—of the nobility and men of the learned professions means that we know remarkably little not only about the landless labourers but also about better-off tenants, smiths and weavers. Fynes Moryson, secretary to Lord Deputy Mountjoy in the final years of Elizabeth’s reign, wrote that the Gaelic lords regarded labourers and tenants at will as ‘born slaves to till their ground and to do them all services’.22 Though they appear to have been devoid of rights, they were not serfs—indeed, they could move freely from one lord to another—and as some Ulster proprietors were short of labour they sometimes went out of their way to attract families north from the Pale.


Farmers unable to afford tower-houses lived in what the English called ‘coupled houses’. These were post-and-wattle dwellings with crucks (curved load-bearing timbers supporting the hipped thatched roof, springing from ground level or from a position within the side walls somewhat above the ground). Such structures were single-storey, mainly rectangular in plan, usually with a more or less centrally located door. Chimneys were rare, and smoke from the hearth in the centre of the house had to pass out through the door.23 Some continued to occupy raths and crannógs (island dwellings from an earlier time).


The Armada castaway Captain Francisco de Cuéllar lived with the Irish in the far north-west for almost a year. He and other Spaniards without hesitation described the natives as ‘savages’:




The men are all large-bodied, and of handsome features and limbs; and as active as the roe-deer. The most of the women are very beautiful, but badly got up. They do not eat oftener than once a day, and this is at night; and that which they usually eat is butter with oaten bread. They drink sour milk, for they have no other drink; they don’t drink water, although it is the best in the world. On feast days they eat some flesh half-cooked without bread or salt, as that is their custom.





Edmund Campion, an English scholar subsequently tortured and gruesomely executed as a Jesuit traitor, commented on the menu of the Irish:




Shamrocks, watercresses, roots and other herbs they feed upon, oatmeal and butter they cram together. They drink whey, milk and beef-broth, flesh they devour without bread, corn such as they have they keep for their horses.





Clearly, dairy produce formed the most important part of the diet. Oatmeal was often combined with butter—on one occasion the O’Donnells fell upon Shane O’Neill’s warriors while they were holding out their helmets to be served raw oatmeal with melted butter poured over it. The churning of milk to make butter alongside grazing herds was a vital summer activity to ensure food over the winter. Heavily salted and flavoured with herbs, butter was often placed in wooden containers, known as raskins, and put into turf bogs, where it acquired a taste the English disliked. The need for butter as winter rations ensured that fresh milk was generally too precious to be drunk in any quantity, but buttermilk was widely consumed. Fynes Moryson wrote that the people ‘esteem for a great dainty sour curds, vulgarly called Bonaclabbe’. This was bainne clabair, or bonnyclabber (clotted milk). Blood was sometimes drawn from below the ears of living cattle or horses and mixed with butter to form a jelly. Moryson adds that ‘no meat they fancy so much as pork, the fatter the better’. Like other English observers, Moryson mentions the liking the Irish had for ‘shamrock’—almost certainly this was wood sorrel (known to some today as ‘Sour Sally’), rightly regarded as a piquant enhancement to a good, fresh salad. He wrote that they ‘willingly eat the herb shamrock, being of a sharp taste, which as they run and are chased to and fro, they snatch like beasts out of the ditches’. Moryson commented on the liking for strong drink:




When they come to any market to sell a cow or a horse, they never return home, till they have drunk the price in Spanish wine (which they call the King of Spain’s Daughter), or in Irish ‘usquebaugh’ till they have out-slept two or three days’ drunkenness. And not only the common sort, but even the lords and their wives, the more they want this drink at home, the more they swallow it when they come to it, till they be as drunk as beggars.





Indeed, Sir Josias Bodley, campaigning in Lecale in 1600, found priests there pouring ‘usquebaugh down their throats by day and by night’.


Francisco de Cuéllar, though he admired the handsome men and was constantly encountering native girls ‘beautiful in the extreme’, was not impressed by their dress:




They clothe themselves, according to their habit, with tight trousers and short loose coats of very coarse goat’s hair. They cover themselves with blankets and wear their hair down to their eyes.





The ‘goat’s hair’ was probably coarse sheep’s wool, and ‘blankets’ were the mantles which were the most distinctive item of Irish dress. The mantle was an enveloping outer woollen cloak, tightly woven with curled nap raised with the aid of a teasel seed-head, the tufts treated with honey and vinegar to stop them uncurling. Moryson described the mantle as




a fit house for an outlaw, a meet bed for a rebel, and an apt cloak for a thief … When it raineth, it is his pent-house, when it bloweth it is his tent, when it freezeth, it is his tabernacle. In summer he can wear it loose; in winter, he can wrap it close; at all times he can use it; never heavy, never cumbersome.





Fighting men in particular liked to sport a ‘glib’, a thick roll of hair at the forehead. Campion observed: ‘Proud they are of long crisped glibs, and do nourish the same with all their cunning: to crop the front thereof they take it for a notable piece of villiany’.24


Irish women seem to have been quite happy to expose their breasts in full in polite society and were not ashamed to be naked, as a Bohemian nobleman discovered in north Ulster in 1601. Just what Jaroslav z Donina was doing in O’Cahan’s country in the middle of a devastating rebellion is impossible to say. There he encountered sixteen high-born women, all naked, with ‘which strange sight his eyes being dazzled, they led him into the house’ to converse politely in Latin in front of the fire. Joining them, the Lord O’Cahan threw all his clothes off and was surprised that the Czech baron was too bashful to do likewise.


THE PLANTATION OF MUNSTER AND THE ‘NATIVE PLANTATION’ OF MONAGHAN


Lord Deputy Sidney hoped that Turlough Luineach O’Neill, Lord of Tír Eoghain and the most powerful Gaelic magnate in Ireland, would die soon because of his ‘ill diet, and continual surfeit’. Another royal official observed: ‘Sir Turlough is very old and what with decay of nature through his age and overrun with drink which daily he is in, he is utterly past government’.25 After heavy drinking sessions Turlough would lie unconscious for more than two days at a time. But this O’Neill had a tough constitution and was to live until 1595. Turlough had created a formidable Gaelic coalition by marrying Agnes Campbell, widow of James MacDonnell of the Glens and the Isles, and she had brought with her a large contingent of Scots mercenaries, condottieri known as Redshanks. In addition, her daughter Finola—known as Inghean Dubh, the ‘dark daughter’—was married in turn to Hugh O’Donnell, Lord of Tír Chonaill. An urgent memorandum sent from Carrickfergus in 1580 warned Elizabeth of the danger this posed:




Here is a great bruit of 2000 Scots landed in Clandeboye. Turlough Luineach’s marriage with the Scot is the cause of all this, and if her Majesty does not provide against her devices, this Scottish woman will make a new Scotland of Ulster. She hath already planted a good foundation; for she in Tyrone, and her daughter in Tyrconnell, do carry all the sway in the north.26





Elizabeth could do nothing in response: she had a rebellion to crush in the far south of Ireland.


The FitzGeralds of Munster, gaelicised descendants of the first Norman conquerors, deeply resented the erosion of their power and the growing insistence that they accept the reformed faith. In 1579 James FitzMaurice, cousin of the Earl of Desmond, Gerald FitzGerald, persuaded Pope Gregory XIII to fund an expedition of Italian and Spanish soldiers to assist an uprising. Landing at Smerwick on the Dingle Peninsula, they awaited reinforcements, which arrived in September 1580. But Lord Deputy Leonard Grey closed in with a formidable force soon after; the intruders surrendered the fort they had built, ‘and then’, Grey reported to the Queen, ‘put I in certain bands, who straight fell to execution. There were 600 slain’.


It took another two years for the rebellion to be crushed. Great tracts of the south of Ireland were left in ruins, and a terrible famine swept across the land. Grey’s secretary, Edmund Spenser, described the suffering of the inhabitants:




They looked like anatomies of death, they spake like ghosts crying out of their graves; they did eat of the dead carrions, happy were they if they could find them, yea, and one another soon after … In a short space there were almost none left, and a most populous and plentiful country suddenly made void of man and beast.27





Walter Raleigh, a captain who had superintended the slaughter at Smerwick, was one of many who argued that now was the time to colonise the confiscated estates of the Earl of Desmond and his adherents. A hasty survey was made in 1584, and finally, in 1586, the decision was taken to settle people of English birth on the confiscated lands. The lands were divided into portions of between four thousand and twelve thousand acres, each to be granted to an ‘undertaker’, that is, a man who undertook to bring in a specified number of families to work the land—no Gaelic Irish tenants were permitted. Demand was strong, and eventually thirty-five undertakers were successful in getting estates. It was not long, however, before the Plantation of Munster began to run into trouble. The principal drawbacks in implementing the scheme were that the grants were too extensive, that not enough ordinary English farming families came over and that those that did were fatally exposed in the turbulent conditions following the outbreak of war in 1585 between England and Spain. The template of this plantation scheme was retained; with many lessons learnt, it was significantly modified when plans were being laid for the British colonisation of Ulster in the seventeenth century.28


The decision of Philip II of Spain to send his ‘invincible’ Armada north from Lisbon in 1588 deserves to be regarded as a major turning point in the history of Ireland. This was when the government in London felt that there was no alternative but to ensure the complete subjugation of the entire island for the sake of England’s security. Otherwise, disaffected Irish, refusing to accept the Protestant faith of the established church, could provide a base for the Crown’s Catholic enemies on the European mainland, turning Ireland into a dangerously vulnerable western flank in England’s defences.


Of course the Spanish King’s dream of conquering England soon turned to dust. Raked by cannon fire in the Channel and scattered by fireships, the Armada could do no other than take flight up the North Sea, around the Northern Isles and westwards, deep into the Atlantic. Many great galleons and other vessels, driven by storms, foundered on Ireland’s western shores. Thousands drowned. More thousands were slaughtered on the orders of Lord Deputy Sir William Fitzwilliam. Nevertheless, there were at one stage some three thousand Armada survivors on Irish soil at a time when the Lord Deputy had at his command only about a thousand men.


Elizabeth was fortunate that the Spanish castaways were too exhausted, sick and demoralised to pose a serious threat. In addition, Gaelic lords in general were not yet ready to make common cause with them. All the same, the Armada was a wake-up call for the English Crown. Ireland clearly was now a pawn in European great-power rivalry. Decisive action was required to ensure that England’s security was not gravely compromised by an unsure hold on that island.


Preoccupation with Munster and the Armada meant that the Crown could spare few men to bring Turlough Luineach O’Neill to heel. In any case, the wily lord, for all his defiance, generally avoided action which might unleash expeditions against him. The English government had an alternative and inexpensive ploy to reassert its influence and authority in Ulster: to shoe in a loyal and anglicised native Irish subject who could command the support of inhabitants there.


By English law, the rightful Earl of Tyrone was Hugh O’Neill, son of the murdered Matthew, son of the 1st Earl, Conn Bacach O’Neill, and brother of the murdered Brian, and whose close relative Shane had also been murdered. To be sure that he in turn would not be murdered, the infant Hugh had been taken to the Pale and given a good English education there. In 1585 Hugh O’Neill was formally granted the title of Earl of Tyrone and sent back to Ulster to promote obedience to the English Crown. Settling himself in Dungannon, the earl steadily increased his power in Tír Eoghain, slowly undermining the authority of the ailing Turlough. By 1590, however, it was the independent power of the Earl of Tyrone, not that of Turlough O’Neill, which was causing alarm in Dublin Castle.


When Hugh Roe MacMahon, the principal Gaelic lord in Co. Monaghan, made war on members of his family and raided cattle in the barony of Farney—the property of the Earl of Essex—Lord Deputy Fitzwilliam decided to teach him a lesson. In 1590 he led an expedition north from Dublin, captured Hugh Roe and hanged him. This punishment was followed by a partition of the extensive MacMahon lands. These estates were apportioned to five leading MacMahons and to the heads of some other prominent families in the area.


Dublin Castle was delighted with the results of this experiment. Not one of the owners of these comparatively modest estates would be strong enough to threaten rebellion—indeed, each was happy to pay taxes to the Crown in return for secure title to farms which they could pass on by English law to an eldest son. The Master of the Ordnance concluded that this sort of division was ‘the soundest and surest way to bring Ireland to due obedience’.


Described as a ‘native plantation’, this exercise in social engineering, this application of the principle of divide and rule, was surely more effective than repeated expensive military expeditions. Indeed it was considered so successful that Co. Monaghan was not to be included in James I’s Plantation of Ulster. A similar scheme was drawn up for the neighbouring O’Reilly lordship of East Bréifne, now renamed Co. Cavan. West Bréifne, which became Co. Leitrim, was another plum ripe for the picking—particularly after its lord, Sir Brian O’Rourke, had been hanged, drawn and quartered at Tyburn. One official described the planned ‘native plantation’ of Leitrim as ‘indeed pleasing to God, highly profitable to the Queen, and the precedent of it a light and candle to their neighbours of the north to find out speedily the way to wealth, civility and obedience’. The Queen’s Marshal, Sir Henry Bagenal, agreed with this view. He advised the break-up of the great Gaelic lordships of Ulster in this way: ‘The chiefest, or rather the only means to reduce these barbarous people to obedience is to disunite them as all may be enforced to depend on the Queen’.29


THE NINE YEARS’ WAR BEGINS


The Earl of Tyrone viewed these developments with mounting alarm, particularly when the Dublin government decided to break up the lands of the Maguires in Co. Fermanagh. All the Gaelic lords of the north felt directly threatened. When a sheriff approached Enniskillen with troops in 1593 this was too much for the Lord of Fermanagh, Hugh Maguire, who rose in rebellion. As one of the principal nobles in Ireland, the Earl of Tyrone was expected to campaign with the Queen’s Marshal when he was in Ulster. O’Neill had a good record in this respect so far, and now he rode alongside Marshal Sir Henry Bagenal. After a hard-fought siege, Maguire was forced to surrender his island castle of Enniskillen early in 1594. Now it was the English who occupied the castle. Soon, however, it was they who were in danger.


The Earl of Tyrone made the fateful decision to change sides. He would champion the cause of the Gaelic lords of the north, leading them to resist the encroachment of the English Crown. For this strategy to succeed he would first have to end the centuries-old wasting rivalry between the O’Neills and the O’Donnells, and win the support of the MacDonnells. By his judicious marriage alliances Turlough Luineach had paved the way: the earl respectfully waited until the old man died, in 1595, before having himself proclaimed ‘the O’Neill’ and inaugurated at Tullaghoge. Red Hugh O’Donnell, the fifteen-year-old Lord of Tír Chonaill and son of Finola, had been captured by a ruse in 1587 and held captive in Dublin Castle. The earl, with many friends in the Pale and using bribes on a spectacular scale, organised a successful escape in 1592, and, assisted by O’Neill’s men all the way, Red Hugh made his way north-west back to his castle at Ballyshannon. Though his frost-bitten big toes had to be amputated, Red Hugh was proclaimed ‘the O’Donnell’ shortly afterwards. The bond between the two lords would never thereafter be broken. Together they recovered Enniskillen for Maguire, and soon other English garrisons found themselves surrounded by hostile forces.


The hatred Sir Henry Bagenal, the Queen’s Marshal, had for the earl played its part in precipitating the approaching war. In 1591 O’Neill eloped with Sir Henry’s twenty-year-old sister, Mabel. Their marriage did not last long, Mabel dying five years later. Bagenal never forgave Tyrone and vented his feelings to the Queen’s secretary, Lord Burghley: ‘I can but accurse myself and fortune that my blood, which in my father and myself hath often been spilled in repressing this rebellious race, should now be mingled with so traitorous a stock and kindred’.30


‘A QUICK END TO A SLOW PROCEEDING’


The Queen’s Marshal was soon to experience the military power of a Gaelic Ulster united as never before. On 13 June 1595, returning after bringing supplies to Monaghan Fort, Bagenal was ambushed by Tyrone at Clontibret. There were, it was admitted, ‘more hurt men in the late service than was convenient to declare’. It was evident that the natives had become accomplished in the use of firearms: Bagenal’s cavalry commander observed ‘that in no place whatsoever he had served in all his life he never saw readier or perfecter shot’.31 Unlike his predecessors, who had relied on hiring mercenaries from the Scottish Isles, Hugh O’Neill raised a great host from his own lands. He armed not only his own freemen but also conscripted his peasantry, providing them with modern calivers, muskets and arquebuses and—with the help of some Spanish Armada castaways—giving them training and discipline. These ‘bonaght’ levies marched in companies carrying colours to the beat of drums and the skirl of pipes and were supported by ‘kerne’, light foot soldiers who could muster from any part of Ulster. O’Neill, his allied chiefs and their kinsmen, who formed the traditional warrior caste, made up the cavalry of this formidable army.


In 1598 the Irish Council in Dublin ordered another attempt to bring supplies to a beleaguered garrison, this time to Blackwater Fort in the heart of O’Neill’s country. Reinforced by fresh troops from England, Bagenal led the largest expedition for many years in August. Shortly after leaving Armagh, the Marshal advanced into an elaborately prepared ambush. His army was all but annihilated, and Bagenal, raising his visor to rally his men, was shot through the head. This ‘Battle of the Yellow Ford’ was the most disastrous defeat the English ever suffered at the hands of the Irish.


All over the rest of the island, Gaelic lords rose up and clamoured to join with O’Neill and O’Donnell, even within sight of Dublin. The O’Mores furiously attacked the planters in King’s County and Queen’s County, and the Plantation of Munster disintegrated, the colonists being driven out, mutilated or killed. Elizabeth faced the real prospect of losing Ireland altogether. Not for the first time, O’Neill hesitated; his ambition was to be the unchallenged ruler of Ulster, not of Ireland as a whole, and now he hoped to win the Queen’s acceptance of his rule. Elizabeth no longer had any wish to talk. Over the winter of 1598/9 troops were levied on an unprecedented scale across England, and rich contracts for food, munitions, camp equipment and medical supplies were made with London merchants.


The Queen chose Robert Devereux, 2nd Earl of Essex, as the man to lead her new army, with the exalted title of Lord Lieutenant. Leading the greatest army yet seen in Ireland, Essex did not do as he had promised: to meet Tyrone in the field. Instead he spent the summer of 1599 attempting to detach Leinster and Munster lords from O’Neill. Elizabeth fretted that her Lord Lieutenant was costing her a thousand pounds a day and urged him to put the axe ‘to the root of that tree which hath been the treasonable stock from which so many poisoned plants and grafts have been derived’. As reports of aimless expeditions and inconsequential sieges were brought to her, Sir John Harrington observed: ‘She walks much in her privy chamber, and stamps with her feet at ill news, and thrusts her rusty sword at times into the arras in great rage’.32


The news got worse. Sir Conyers Clifford and his army were overwhelmed by the O’Rourkes in the Curlew Mountains, and his head was sent to Red Hugh. Then, when Essex at last set out for Ulster at the end of August, troops began to desert. O’Neill and the Lord Lieutenant confronted each other at Ardee; but, instead of fighting, a curious parley followed on horseback in the middle of a stream entering the River Glyde near Dundalk. They met again with witnesses and agreed a six-week truce. The Ulster Irish retired, having made no concessions whatever.


‘To trust this traitor upon oath is to trust a devil upon his religion’, Elizabeth said in despair, scathingly describing the truce as a ‘quick end made of a slow proceeding’.33 Essex then suddenly deserted his post, returned to London and burst into the Queen’s bedchamber to beg forgiveness. He was committed to the custody of Lord Keeper Egerton. The truce was extended to December 1599, but, while O’Neill wanted to maintain it, the English were preparing to renew the fight. Elizabeth was convinced that she must unstintingly use her treasure to defeat Tyrone. She also needed a man capable of steering her armies towards victory. That man was Charles Blount, Lord Mountjoy.










Chapter 2 [image: Images]



LA JORNADA DE IRLANDA


MOUNTJOY


Charles Blount, Lord Mountjoy, though only thirty-six years old when he was appointed Lord Deputy of Ireland in January 1600, believed himself to be in constant bad health. He took an afternoon nap in his tent when on campaign, and, his secretary Fynes Moryson informs us,




he wore jerkins and round hose and cloaks lined with velvet, and white beaver hats, and besides his ordinary stockings of silk, he wore under boots another pair of woollen, with a pair of high line boot-hose, yea three waistcoats in cold weather, and a thick ruff, besides a russet scarf about his neck thrice folded under it. I never observed any of his age and strength to keep his body so warm … He took tobacco abundantly, which I think preserved him from sickness, especially in Ireland, where the foggy air of the bogs do most prejudice the health.





Mountjoy nevertheless inspired his men with greater success than any English commander before him, and he appeared fearless in battle. At different times his horse was shot under him, his greyhound running beside him was shot dead, and his chaplain, one of his secretaries and a gentleman of his chamber were killed in action close by him.


The new Lord Deputy planned to break the rebellion of the Ulster lords by laying waste the countryside and starving the people. He preferred to fight in winter, when it was more difficult for the Irish to hide in the leafless woods, when their stores of corn and butter could be burned and when their cattle down from their summer pastures could be more easily slaughtered. After the ignominious departure of Essex, O’Neill had been able to travel down to Munster to bring reassurance to his Gaelic allies there and to maintain a standing army of bonnaghts in the south under the command of Captain Richard Tyrrell. Mountjoy, however, swiftly dealt with the earl’s southern supporters, despoiling Wicklow and scattering Tyrrell’s force. Sir George Carew, Lord President of Munster, ensured that by the end of the year not a single castle in Munster remained in rebel hands.


In the spring, Mountjoy sent an expedition to Lough Foyle with the object of driving a wedge between the O’Neill and O’Donnell lordships. On 7 May 1600 an impressive fleet sailed out of Carrickfergus harbour with some four thousand soldiers and two hundred cavalry on board under the command of Sir Henry Docwra. Here, on the ancient ecclesiastical site of Derry, Docwra established his base. Using rubble from old buildings bound by mortar made by firing cockle-shells collected in the mud, his men completed the fortifications by the end of the summer. Red Hugh O’Donnell was close by, and any time the English ventured out the Irish fiercely attacked them and seized two hundred of their horses. Ships came in with fresh supplies and horses, and some Irish lords, who knew the countryside well, came over to the English side. They included Niall Garbh O’Donnell, who felt with some justice that he had as good a title to the chieftaincy of the O’Donnells as Red Hugh. Docwra overran Inishowen and began to fight his way upstream towards Strabane.


Meanwhile from the south the Lord Deputy approached the Moyry Pass, the gateway to Ulster, running between Dundalk and Newry. Red Hugh could only hope to evict Docwra with O’Neill’s help, and that he could not do until the Earl of Tyrone had driven back Mountjoy. After weeks of intense fighting in foul weather, on the afternoon of Thursday 2 October the Irish advanced with pike and handgun in formidable array. Mountjoy threw five regiments against them, but after three hours of close fighting the English fell back in confusion.


The Lord Deputy had failed to break through Tyrone’s elaborate defences at the pass. Nevertheless, the tide was beginning to turn against the Gaelic lords of Ulster. Only in the extremities of Munster and Connacht were there allies faithful to O’Neill still in arms. The ‘Old English’—descendants of medieval Norman conquerors and those they had brought with them—stubbornly refused to join the Gaelic lords, much as they hated the government’s attempts to force them to conform to the reformed religion. Elizabeth had no wish to negotiate a compromise peace. The only hope was substantial Spanish help.


‘THE EXPEDITION MUST GO THIS YEAR’: SOCORRO FOR IRELAND


On 16 May 1596 Red Hugh O’Donnell and Hugh O’Neill had written to the Prince of Asturias appealing to him to




aid in his clemency this most excellent and just cause, that of asserting Catholic liberty and of freeing the country from the rod of tyrannical evil, and that, with the help of the Divine Majesty, he may win for Christ an infinite number of souls, snatching them from the jaws of Hell, and may wholly destroy or compel to return to reason the ministers of satanic fury and the impious disturbers of the Christian state.1





In 1598 the prince succeeded his father as Philip III of Spain. A pious and colourless king, Philip generally preferred to leave the direction of state affairs to others, but he was inclined to do what he could for the Ulster lords. On his accession Philip had unwisely sent away from court experienced and loyal servants bequeathed to him by his father. To replace these men the King had appointed his favourite, Francisco Gómez de Sandoval y Rojas, Duke of Lerma.


Fray Mateo de Oviedo (briefed by O’Neill’s agent in Spain, Father Edmund O’Donnell) and Don Martín de la Cerdá assiduously lobbied Lerma to provide socorro (aid) to O’Neill and O’Donnell. A strong expeditionary force should be sent to Ireland. Without any serious support from juntas of councillors, Lerma warmed to the idea. In particular he liked the argument that a Spanish landing would so preoccupy Elizabeth in Ireland that she would be unable to continue authorising damaging English attacks on plate fleets coming from the Indies across the Atlantic. Lerma sent Cerdá to Ireland with silver, a thousand arquebuses with powder horns and a hundred quintals each of powder, lead and fuse, in three vessels under the command of Ensign Pedro de Sandoval. Putting in to Donegal Bay in April 1600, Cerdá held a conference of about sixty Gaelic leaders in Donegal Abbey. He was unable to promise an expedition, but his assurances and munitions did much to convince O’Neill and O’Donnell to fight on.


It was King Philip himself who made the decision to send an expedition. Rather unusually, he asserted himself, overruling councillors who assured him that the Spanish Empire had other priorities. In July he wrote that, if necessary, he would pay for the expedition out of his own pocket:




This enterprise must so further God’s service, and the earnestness and zeal shown by the council for it must so animate those entrusted with its execution as to overcome all the difficulties unseen. I myself will see that the money is provided, even at the expense of what is necessary for my personal state. The expedition must go this year; to that end the council will put all in order with the utmost speed …2





In fact the expedition did not go that year. Archduke Albert in the Spanish Netherlands made desperate appeals for more men to fight the Protestant Dutch, and it looked as if troops would be needed to assist Savoyards against the French.


Meanwhile, in Ireland, O’Neill and O’Donnell were becoming increasingly desperate. Neither Mountjoy nor Docwra relaxed their campaigns of attrition during the winter of 1600/01. The men of Docwra’s garrison ‘sett divers Preys of cattle, & did many other services all the winter longe’ with the help of Niall Garbh, ‘without whose intelligence and guidance little or nothing could have been done of ourselves’.3 Docwra was close to achieving his objective of separating Tír Chonaill from Tír Eoghain: Niall Garbh took Donegal Abbey, and Ballyshannon Castle was placed under siege. Cahir O’Doherty, Lord of Inishowen, came over to the English side, enabling Docwra to move against the MacSweeneys of Fanad. Mountjoy built a new fort at Mountnorris and from there raided deep into the Earl of Tyrone’s country. At the beginning of April, Captain Edward Blaney and Captain Josias Bodley, employing ‘30 Arrows with Wild-fire’, took one of O’Neill’s greatest strongholds, the crannóg fortress of Lough Lurcan. A ‘great store of butter, corn, meal, and powder, was burned and spoiled in the island, which all the rebels of that country made their magazine’.4 Sir Arthur Chichester, using Carrickfergus as his base, ravaged Clandeboye, kept the MacDonnells at bay and crossed Lough Neagh in boats to create havoc on the western shores. In May 1601 he reported to Mountjoy:




We have killed, burnt, and spoiled all along the lough within four miles of Dungannon, from whence we returned hither yesterday; in which journeys we have killed above one hundred people of all sorts, besides such as were burnt, how many I know not. We spare none of what quality or sex soever, and it hath bred much terror in the people … and Tyrone himself lay within a mile of this place, but kept himself safe.5
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